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    For my husband

    Till a’ the seas gang dry, my dear,

    And the rocks melt wi’ the sun:

    I will luve thee still, my dear,

    While the sands o’ life shall run.

    Robbie Burns

  
    

    

    ‘Many cart-loads of our fellow-creatures are once in six weeks carried to slaughter.’

    Henry Fielding, 1751

    ‘The following malefactors were executed at Tyburn – John Kelly, for robbing Edward Adamson in a public street of sixpence and one farthing.’

    Gentleman’s Magazine, 7 March 1783

    ‘It is frequently said by the prisoners of Newgate that the crimes of which they have been guilty are as nothing when compared with the crimes of Government towards themselves: that they have only been thieves, but that their governors have been murderers.’

    Mrs Elizabeth Fry, prison reformer, 1818

  
    

    

    
Introduction


    Imagine that you are standing at Marble Arch today, looking east, down the vista of eight hundred years. Picture an innumerable procession of men and women advancing from the mist, walking to their deaths from the Tower of London or Newgate Gaol to the bloody field of Tyburn. Historians can only surmise the number of those who suffered violent death here, but a modest estimate would put the figure at around 50,000. This black parade is composed of all sorts and conditions of men, from aristocrats to artisans, priests to petty thieves, and notorious murderers to young boys who have stolen a few pennies. Learned scholars and priests rub shoulders with illiterate thugs. Highwaymen swagger in their finery while fraudulent clerks twitch nervously. There are women here, too: an unrepentant murderess resplendent in black satin and an innocent maiden in her white bridal gown. Alongside them stride rebels and martyrs whose only crime was to refuse to renounce their cherished beliefs at the bidding of a tyrant.

    Tyburn’s dead travel along this Via Dolorosa in different ways. Some are bound with rope, tied to a horse and dragged five miles from the Tower. The majority ride in horse-drawn carts, alongside their coffins. This is, for the most part, a nameless, unrecorded crowd. Over the centuries, only the occasional figure emerges here and there from the anonymous throng. It is just for a few decades in the history of Tyburn that we will see certain characters from this procession clearly, and in detail. Mainly they pass in faceless batches of ten, fifteen, twenty: laughing boys; women with babies at the breast; men and women drunk, cursing, crying, praying. Some of the women will be burnt alive. Of the men, all will hang, but some will be cut down, still conscious, and forced to watch as they are disembowelled and their entrails burnt before their very eyes. A few will be hanged in chains or placed in a gibbet until the flesh rots from their bones. Alongside these unfortunates march the spectators, the family and friends of the dead, and those who consider public executions to be first-rate entertainment. For centuries, hangings were holidays, offering all the fun of the Tyburn fair. The crowd gorged on gingerbread, roast pork and beer, before shouting ‘Hats off!’ and craning to see the condemned men kicking their way to death at the end of a short rope.

    Barbaric by modern standards, public executions were a common sight up until 1868. In 1660, the diarist Samuel Pepys went to see Major-General Harrison hanged, drawn and quartered, and observed that he looked as cheerful as any man could in that condition. ‘He was presently cut down, and his head and his heart shown to the people, at which there was great shouts of joy.’ Pepys also witnessed the hanging of Colonel John Turner for burglary in 1664. After paying a shilling to watch, Pepys stood on the wheel of a cart, ‘in great pain’, as Turner tried to delay his death by delivering speech after speech. Turner was eventually hanged, ‘flung off the ladder in his cloak’ and Pepys went home to dinner ‘all in a sweat’. Pepys also saw a number of gibbets. During a country ride, he and a female companion ‘rode under the man that hangs upon Shooter’s Hill; and a filthy sight it was to see how his flesh is shrunk to his bones’.

    The 1752 Murder Act allowed judges to make an example of murderers by ordering that their corpses should be displayed on a gibbet. Thus, in the 1770s, up to one hundred gibbets stood on Hounslow Heath, so that, according to the poet Robert Southey, ‘from whatever quarter the wind blew, it brought with it a cadaverous and pestilential odour’. The Sunday after the highwayman Lewis Avershaw was gibbeted on Wimbledon Common in 1795, the city was deserted as Londoners flocked to view the corpse. For months after, this grisly spectacle was a popular outing.

    Taking Tyburn and the history and abolition of capital punishment as its major theme, this book visits the major landmarks of London’s underworld. In the course of this journey, I introduce the reader to Newgate Gaol, described by the barrister Henry Fielding as ‘London’s prototype of Hell’, and its equally famous neighbour, the venerable Old Bailey. There is the chance to canter across the moonlit Common with the highwaymen, learn the secrets of top pickpockets in the Victorian West End, and venture into the dark and deadly territory of Whitechapel on the trail of Jack the Ripper. From time to time, the narrative will be interrupted, just as London has been, by insurrection, from the Gordon Riots of 1780 which saw Newgate Gaol burnt to the ground, to the disturbances of August 2011.

    The horrific history of capital punishment includes an extraordinary cast of characters, from the celebrated Newgate escapee Jack Sheppard to the evil thief-taker Jonathan Wild, from the mild-mannered Doctor Crippen to the glittering ash-blonde Ruth Ellis, the last woman to be hanged. This tour of the capital’s underworld is not for the faint-hearted. Beneath the veneer of sophistication and culture lurks a lawless London, a substratum of passion, darkness and despair. The legacy of this lingers on in the incipient melancholy of the London street, the abiding sense of mystery and unsolved crimes, of footsteps echoing in the distance, the flick of a cape, the discovery of a battered corpse lying in a pool of blood. Murderers cast a long shadow. Even today, serving police officers post in chat rooms, speculating on the true identity of Jack the Ripper and other unsolved crimes. Who can forget the image of Lady Lucan, staggering out of her Belgravia home with a massive head wound, after her husband Lord Lucan had apparently murdered their nanny, Sandra Rivett, mistaking her for his wife? Or the glittering, violent career of the Kray twins – local heroes, celebrity socialites and ruthless murderers?

    Everyone in London has their own tale to tell of near-misses and narrow escapes. When the estate agent, Suzy Lamplugh, went missing in 1986, her car was found outside the house where I lived. My flatmate, who knew Suzy from the West London social scene, took it personally. I also recall the sense of outrage when the television presenter Jill Dando was shot dead on her own doorstep, just a street away from ours.

    My own interest in crime began early, after I raced through the original Sherlock Holmes stories then read my way through my parents’ extensive collection of Penguin thrillers. Rather more unsuitably, I picked up Colin Wilson’s Encyclopaedia of Murder at the age of twelve and scared the life out of myself. To my mother’s horror, I was transfixed by this graphic catalogue of true-life crime, but my interest was creative and forensic rather than ghoulish. I was intrigued not only by crime itself, but by the killers’ motivations, and the strong conviction that above all the victims should not be forgotten. Years later, after exploring the darkest aspects of London’s history, this fascination still endures. The distinguished advocate Sir Edward Marshall Hall once said that when defending a client, and bringing the details of the case alive, he set out ‘to create an atmosphere out of the vivid, living dream of someone else’s life’. If I have managed to do this in Underworld London: Crime and Punishment in the Capital City, then I shall have succeeded.

  
    

    

    
1

    CITY OF GALLOWS

    Roots of the Tyburn Tree

    The shadow of the noose looms large over London’s history. Nowhere more so than at Tyburn, that desolate space beyond the city walls, where rebels, criminals and martyrs have been executed from time immemorial, as merciless governments strove to preserve an iron grip upon the populace. In the earliest years, offenders were hanged from the branches of the elm trees, until the development of purpose-built gallows, consisting of simple wooden structures with a transverse beam, from which the unfortunate prisoners dangled at the end of a very short rope.

    Today, Marble Arch, surrounded by an endless flow of traffic, marks the spot where once the gallows stood. Eight hundred years ago, this windswept plain was silent, apart from the rustle of the elm trees and the caw of the carrion crow. Tyburn was located three miles north west of London for a reason. While the sight of a hanged man was believed to represent an effective deterrent, no citizen wanted to live alongside the reek of putrefaction. Tyburn also had its gibbets, metal cages in which the corpses of the hanged were displayed and left to rot. The mediaeval historian Matthew Paris recorded seeing two prisoners gibbeted, one already dead, the other still alive, condemned to die of exposure and starvation. Between executions, foxes, birds and badgers feasted on the ‘friendless bodies of unburied men’1 and scattered their remains across the heath.

    On 6 April 1196, the stillness was shattered by the arrival of a roaring mob, and the pounding of hooves as a horse appeared in a cloud of dust over the horizon, dragging behind it the body of a man. This was the scene as William Fitzosbert, alias ‘Longbeard’, arrived at Tyburn to be executed for treason, the most grievous crime in the land. Plotting to overthrow the king and the state could only be punishable by death, and death of the most horrific and undignified kind. The sentence consisted of drawing, hanging and quartering, a barbaric practice which involved being dragged or ‘drawn’ to the gallows, then ‘hanged by the neck and let down alive’ before being disembowelled (another form of‘drawing’ when the intestines were ‘drawn’ from the body), burnt alive, beheaded, and hacked into four parts or ‘quarters’. Finally, the mutilated head and ‘quarters’ were put on display in prominent positions, such as Tower Bridge or the Temple Bar,pour décourager les autres.

    Fitzosbert had already been stripped to the waist, bound hand and foot with rope, tied to the tail of a horse, and then ‘drawn’ or dragged from the Tower of London, a distance of over five miles. Many prisoners died of ‘drawing’ long before they reached the gallows.

    As Fitzosbert was untied and hurled at the foot of the gallows, where a thick chain was placed around his neck preparatory to hanging, he must have reflected on the unhappy series of events that had brought him to this pass. For Fitzosbert had been a privileged man, even if the ‘Fitz’ in his name denotes that he was a ‘bastard’, born out of wedlock, to the affluent Osbert family. Fitzosbert, who was raised by his older brother and followed him into the family tailoring business, should have led a long and uneventful life, without troubling the history books. But Fitzosbert was the original bearded agitator.2 Despite the Norman fashion for a clean shave and cropped hair, Fitzosbert had retained the waist-length beard he had grown when serving on the Third Crusade. Indeed, Fitzosbert’s beard became a symbol of political resistance as he encouraged his Saxon supporters to follow his example, making them as unlike the Norman ruling class as possible.

    Fitzosbert prided himself on challenging the authorities, denouncing the government from St Paul’s Cross, a prototype of Speakers’ Corner located in the precincts of St Paul’s Cathedral, where craftsmen and labourers flocked to hear him.3 Fitzosbert’s moment of glory finally arrived as a result of the imposition of a tax to secure the release of King Richard I, who had been kidnapped by Duke Leopold of Austria on his return from the Crusades. The Duke demanded £100,000 (around £20 million today) for his release. ‘Some citizens claimed, with considerable justification, that the Mayor and Corporation of London had assessed themselves and their friends lightly for the tax and passed the greater part of the burden on to their poorer neighbours.’4 In a bid to stop the tax, Fitzosbert sailed to France, where the king was held hostage, and explained his grievance to the king in person. Richard gave him assurances that he and his fellow Londoners would not be heavily taxed to raise funds for the ransom. Fitzosbert returned to London, where the authorities were waiting for him. A well-loved demagogue of the people he may have been, but Fitzosbert was not so popular with the Mayor of London and his aldermen, who were terrified that Fitzosbert would incite a tax riot. The government, headed by the Justiciar Hubert Walter in the absence of Richard I, shared their fears. Apprehensive that trouble in the City might spread to the outlying countryside, the authorities decided to move against him.

    Barricading himself into his headquarters with a band of loyal supporters, Fitzosbert prepared for a long siege. But the authorities surrounded him, fearing that London would go up in flames. During the fighting that ensued, Fitzosbert killed one of the king’s men. Fitzosbert might have seized this opportunity to parade through London with a dripping sword, followed by hundreds of rebels. Instead, he was so horrified by the fact that he had killed a man that he fled to the nearby church of St Mary-le-Bow for sanctuary. Many of his supporters deserted him, and a mere nine men and his ‘concubine’ accompanied him into the church where he prepared to wait it out. Hubert Walter, the Justiciar, was faced with a dilemma. Should he defy ecclesiastical law and send in his men to arrest Fitzosbert and his supporters, with the attendant violence and possible killing, on holy ground? Or should he play a waiting game, until Fitzosbert ran out of food and ammunition and gave himself up?

    The resourceful Hubert Walter formulated a plan. He ignored the time-honoured right of sanctuary and instructed his men to kindle a fire around the walls of the church. Coughing and spluttering, with streaming eyes, Fitzosbert and his followers were forced to abandon their sanctuary or choke to death on the fumes. One long-term consequence of this tactic was that the tower of St Mary-le-Bow collapsed in 1271, as a result of the fires lit to smoke Fitzosbert out.5 As they emerged into Bow Lane, Fitzosbert was attacked and wounded by the son of the man he had killed. Fitzosbert and his men were arrested, and Fitzosbert was tied up, fastened to a horse’s tail and dragged to the Tower to await trial for treason and the inevitable sentence of death.

    And so Fitzosbert found himself at Tyburn, standing with a chain around his neck, awaiting the remainder of his sentence, which entailed being ‘hanged by the neck and let down alive’, then disembowelled while still conscious. He would then be faced with the grisly prospect of watching his own intestines burnt in front of him, before his head was cut off.

    There are conflicting accounts as to how Fitzosbert responded to his final ordeal. Over one thousand years later, historians cannot agree on the exact circumstances of his death. According to the thirteenth-century Benedictine monk, Matthew Paris, a massive crowd turned out to pay their last respects to this people’s champion who had incited riots against an unfair tax. The Elizabethan historian John Stow, however, wrote that Fitzosbert died ignobly, blaspheming Christ, and calling ‘upon the devil to help and deliver him. Such was the end of this deceiver, a man of an evil life, a secret murderer, a filthy fornicator, a polluter of concubines, and a false accuser of his elder brother, who had in his youth brought him up in learning and done many things for his preferment.’6

    Whatever the truth of his final moments, Fitzosbert’s execution was notable for two reasons. His death was the first recorded execution for treason at Tyburn, and it was also the first occasion upon which a victim of Tyburn had become a martyr. According to Matthew Paris, after Fitzosbert had been hanged in chains, his gibbet was carried off and treated as a holy relic by his supporters. ‘Men scooped the earth from the spot where [the gibbet] had stood. The chains which had held his decomposing body were claimed to have miraculous powers.’7 Fitzosbert was vindicated, having ‘died a shameful death for upholding the cause of truth and the poor’.

    Fitzosbert’s status as a secular martyr did not prove popular with the authorities. The pilgrims who came to worship at Fitzosbert’s ‘shrine’ were driven away by Hubert the Justiciar, who had instigated the action against him. But Fitzosbert had his posthumous revenge. Two years later (1198), the monks of Canterbury complained to the Pope about Hubert’s conduct, claiming that he had violated the peace of the church of St Mary-le-Bow by forcing out Fitzosbert and his supporters. In response, the Pope put pressure on Richard I and Hubert was dismissed from his post as Justiciar.8

    Fitzosbert’s status and crime made him eminent enough to enter the record books, while the thousands of humble thieves who perished at Tyburn were regarded as so unexceptional that they did not deserve a mention. Hanging had been introduced by the Anglo-Saxons during the fifth century as a punishment for murder, theft and treason. While William I repealed the death penalty, it was reinstated by Henry I in 1108. As Fitzosbert’s fate demonstrates, hanging served as a means of social and political control. According to the great Edwardian historian of Tyburn, Alfred Marks, ‘the country swarmed with courts of inferior jurisdiction, each with the power to hang thieves’.9 The law of the day had nothing to do with dispensing justice, and existed merely to defend property, which was regarded as more valuable than human life. The right to erect a gallows was granted to some surprising places, including monasteries. Despite the fact that England was nominally a Christian country, the church had no reservations about capital punishment, with St Paul and Thomas Aquinas enlisted in its defence.10 The treatment of criminals was governed not by the compassionate doctrines of the New Testament, but by the implacable concepts of the Old. Wrongdoers were publically punished, so that their agonies would be witnessed by as many people as possible, both for the retributive satisfaction and the deterrent effect.11

    Although the priesthood were forbidden to shed blood, they were not banned from requesting their bailiffs to hang criminals. The Abbot of Westminster owned sixteen gallows in Middlesex in 1281, and the practice extended to convents. Geoffrey Chaucer’s tender-hearted prioress, Madame Eglantyne, who was said to weep at the sight of a mouse caught in a trap, would nevertheless have had a gallows on her property, upon which, at the hands of her bailiff, she would have hanged thieves.12

    The gallows was a familiar sight throughout the land. One popular anecdote tells of a foreign traveller, who, having survived shipwreck, scrambled ashore on the English coast and found himself gazing up at what appeared to be a massive shrine. Crossing himself he fell to his knees, grateful to have arrived in a Christian country. But the structure he was kneeling before was in fact a gallows.13

    The very first recorded execution at Tyburn was that of John Senex, in 1177. Senex, a nobleman, had been the ringleader of a gang that perpetrated a series of burglaries on private houses in London. By 1236, when Henry III had ordered the King’s Gallows to be erected at Tyburn, it had become the place for men of rank to be executed, usually for treason. A notable case was that of William Marsh, who was not only drawn and hanged but quartered. Marsh, son of the viceroy of Ireland, was accused in 1235 of murdering Henry Clement, a messenger who interceded between the Irish and the king. Although he protested his innocence, Marsh was already under suspicion for the attempted assassination of the king. His assets were seized and he went on the run, eventually joining a gang of brigands on the island of Lundy, off the English south-west coast. Turning to a life of piracy, Marsh gave himself up to plunder and rape, as he and his gang descended suddenly on parties of unsuspecting travellers. Henry III put a price on Marsh’s head, and he was eventually betrayed by his comrades and ambushed by the king’s men, who brought him back to London and threw him into the Tower in 1242,14 with instructions that he ‘should be safely contained in the direst and most secure prison in that fortress, and so loaded with irons’ that there could be no risk of his escaping.15

    On 25 July Marsh and sixteen of his henchmen went on trial at Westminster and were condemned to death by the king with immediate effect. Marsh was drawn from Westminster to Tyburn, and hanged from a gibbet. When his body was stiff it was cut down and disembowelled, and the bowels were at once burnt on the spot. And then, according to the chronicler, ‘the miserable body was divided into four parts, which were sent to four of the chief cities, so that this lamentable spectacle might inspire fear in all beholders’.16

    [image: ]

    Execution for Treason: William Marsh is dragged to Tyburn gallows, where he will be hanged and eviscerated. 1242.

    Some fifty years later, the execution of Sir Thomas De Turberville for treason on 6 October 1295 is notable for the degree of humiliation the prisoner endured as he travelled to his death. De Turberville had been captured during the war with France and released on condition that he became a spy and conspired with the French to invade England and support the cause of William Wallace, the Scottish patriot. Detected in the act of writing to the Provost of Paris, De Turberville was tried and condemned. The unusual manner of his execution was described as follows. ‘He came from the Tower, mounted on a poor hack, and shod with white shoes, his being covered with a hood, and his feet tied beneath the horse’s belly, and his hands tied before him.’17 Riding alongside De Turberville were six torturers dressed up as devils, who hit him with cudgels and taunted him. Sitting on the horse with De Turberville was the hangman himself, grasping the horse’s bridle. De Turberville was led through London to Westminster Hall in this manner, where Sir Robert Brabazun pronounced judgement upon him, sentencing him to be drawn and hanged, ‘and that he should hang so long as anything should be left whole of him’.18 De Turberville was drawn on a fresh ox hide from Westminster to Cheapside, and then to Tyburn. The purpose of the ox hide was not humanitarian. Instead, this method was adopted so that the prisoner would not die before reaching the gallows.

    De Turberville’s death was barbaric, even by the standards of the day. The fate that awaited William Wallace, the Scottish patriot, was even worse. Wallace (1272–1305) went on trial at Westminster Hall in 1305, although the trial itself was a travesty, and Wallace was forced to wear a crown of laurels as a mockery. He was condemned to be hanged and drawn for his ‘robberies, homicides and felonies’, and, ‘as an outlaw beheaded, and afterwards for your burning churches and relics your heart, liver, lungs, and entrails from which your wicked thoughts come shall be burned . . . ’19 Wallace’s execution included one refinement. ‘The Man of Belial’, as the chroniclers refer to him, was hanged on a very high gallows, specially built for the occasion, let down alive, then disembowelled before being beheaded and then undergoing the further indignity of ementulation or abscisis genitalibus.20 In other words, Wallace’s genitals were cut off his body and burnt.21 Finally, because all Wallace’s ‘sedition, depredations, fires and homicides were not only against the King, but against the people of England and Scotland’, Wallace’s head was placed upon Drawbridge Gate on London Bridge, where it could clearly be seen by travellers on land and water, and his quarters were hung in gibbets at Newcastle, Berwick, Stirling and Perth, ‘to the terror of all who pass by’.22 A year later, on 7 September, the head of Simon Fraser, another Scots rebel, was placed on Drawbridge Gate alongside that of his leader.

    Brutal and barbaric as these methods of execution may appear to the modern reader, they were consequence of an unstable political climate. And as kings were believed to be divinely appointed, treason was regarded as a crime against God. They are perfect examples of the punishment being designed to fit the crime. But while the majority of convicted criminals awaited a predictable fate on the gallows, early records also yield some curious anecdotes, such as the fate of the ringleader of the first great robbery in the annals of London crime, and his cruel and unusual – but very apposite – punishment.

    In 1303 the biggest robbery for six centuries was carried out in London, the amount involved being £100,000, or £20,000,000 in today’s currency. The target for the robbery was the palace of King Edward I, which at that period was located next to Westminster Abbey and housed the king’s treasury. In addition to valuable ceremonial regalia, there were funds amounting to £100,000, destined to finance Edward’s ongoing war with Scotland. When Edward I left Westminster for Scotland on 14 March 1303, a gang of thieves broke into the treasury, scaled a ladder by the Palace gate, broke open the refectory door, and ‘carried off a considerable amount of silver plate’, as well as jewels and coins.23 When officers arrived to investigate they found broken boxes, scattered jewels and the king’s signet ring, bearing the privy seal, rolling about on the floor. There was no sign of the treasure.

    As soon as the robbery had been discovered, forty-one friars and thirty-four monks were rounded up and sent to the Tower of London. It soon emerged that this audacious robbery was the earliest ‘project crime’ in London, an inside job plotted by William the Sacrist, the churchwarden, and Richard de Podlicote, keeper of the Palace of Westminster, and both their servants.24

    Months earlier, the monks had planted a crop of hemp in the cemetery plot in the cloisters, creating a thick bed of vegetation. It was here that they stashed their ill-gotten gains, which were later removed by another monk, Alexander of Pershore. Alexander placed the treasure in baskets, and rowed off with it to King’s (now Westminster) Bridge. Eventually, ten monks and one cleric were arraigned but they refused to be tried by secular judges. They were remanded to the Tower, but the secular judges ‘condemned the Sacrist of Westminster for receiving and concealing jewels of our lord the king’,25 There is no record of the sentence handed down to Richard de Podlicote or William the Sacrist. Indeed, there was not a word as to their fate for centuries.

    It was not until 1863, when the architect Sir Gilbert Scott was working on the restoration of St Margaret’s, Westminster, that he became fascinated by the discovery that certain doors giving access to the king’s treasury appeared to be covered, inside and out, with skin. Scott submitted a sample to an eminent scientist of the day, a Mr Quekett of the Royal College of Surgeons, who, Scott regretted to tell us, pronounced it to be human skin. There had been vague anecdotes about these doors having been covered with ‘the skins of Danes’ at some grisly point in the abbey’s history, but Dean Stanley (the dean of Westminster Abbey) stated that the skin was that of‘a fair-haired, ruddy-complexioned man’ and concluded that this was all that remained of William the Sacrist. Scott concluded that the human skins were ‘those of persons executed for sacrilege, intended as a means of terrifying less hardened depredators’. A cruel and unusual punishment indeed.26 The fate of Sir Richard, meanwhile, remains a mystery.

    The gallows at Tyburn did not stand idle over the following century. While hundreds, if not thousands, of unrecorded executions took place on this spot, the next notable victim was Roger Mortimer, Baron of Wigmore and Earl of March and effectively king of England for three years between 1327 and 1330.

    In February 1327 the unscrupulous and ambitious Mortimer had joined forces with Queen Isabella to depose and murder her husband, Edward II. Isabella, living up to her name as ‘the she-wolf of France’, proved as ruthless as Mortimer. More than anything, Isabella wanted to see her husband dead so that she could rule in his stead, with Mortimer at her side. Edward II, a flamboyant homosexual with little interest in government, was murdered at Berkeley Castle on the orders of Mortimer, in a particularly grisly fashion – suffocated with a mattress while a red-hot poker was rammed up his anus. By 1329, Isabella’s son, Edward, had formed a powerful alliance to overthrow Mortimer, and Mortimer was eventually seized at Nottingham Castle, brought to London and committed to the Tower. On 29 November, Mortimer was condemned to death at Westminster, in the presence of the entire parliament. Despite pleas from Queen Isabella to her son to spare Mortimer’s life, Mortimer was drawn to Tyburn, ‘and there hanged on the common Gallowes’.27 Mortimer was left to hang for two days before his body was cut down and buried in Greyfriars Church.

    The execution of an innocent man or woman is one of the most grievous consequences of capital punishment. One of the earliest examples of a miscarriage of justice was recorded in the Chronicle of the Grey Friars in 1386. It concerns the landlord of the Cock in Cheapside, who was ‘mortheryd in hys bedde be nyght’.28 The victim’s wife was found guilty of killing her husband and sentenced to the mandatory punishment for husband murder or ‘petty treason’, which was to be burnt to death at Smithfield. Three of the servants, who were implicated in the murder, were drawn and hanged at Tyburn. According to Marks, this was a terrible judicial error. The landlord’s wife was innocent, and the actual perpetrator was a thief who ‘came in at a gutter window’ in the night and who later confessed to the murder when he was at the gallows, waiting to be hanged for another crime.29

    One of the most extraordinary cases – which led to its protagonists’ deaths at Tyburn and Smithfield respectively – came in 1441, when Roger Bolingbroke, an astrologer and magician, was charged with attempting to kill King Henry VI by sorcery, at the instigation of Eleanor Cobham, Duchess of Gloucester. Eleanor’s intention was to see Henry VI dead so that her own husband, the Duke of Gloucester, could take the throne. The plotters set about their nefarious task with the aid of Margery Gourdemaine, ‘the Witch of Eye’ (Ebury, a village near Westminster), and Canon Thomas Southwell of St Stephen’s Chapel, Westminster. While Margery worked on her magic potions, Southwell attempted to ‘consume the kings person by way of Negromancie’ by saying black masses in Hornsey Park, and Bolingbroke sat in a special chair decorated with magical symbols and willed the king to die.

    Despite the fact that these spells were manifestly unsuccessful, Bolingbroke and Southwell were arrested and charged with treason, while Dame Eleanor fled into sanctuary at Westminster, which was taken to be an admission of guilt. Thomas Southwell boasted that he would never live long enough to be executed, and indeed, he was found dead in the Tower. The trial of the remaining three plotters at the Guildhall features in Shakespeare’s Henry VI Pt 2, with their sentences providing some insight into the way that social class affected punishment. While ‘the witch in Smithfield shall be strangled on the gallows’, Dame Eleanor escapes capital punishment on the grounds that she is ‘more nobly born’, but she is condemned to spend the rest of her life ‘in banishment’ on the Isle of Man.30 The reference to the witch being strangled on the gallows alludes to the practice of garrotting the more fortunate prisoners before the fire was lit, so that they would be dead before the flames consumed them. Bolingbroke, being a nobleman, was drawn from the Tower to Tyburn where he was hanged and quartered, proclaiming his innocence with his dying breath and begging for God’s mercy.

    Bolingbroke and his comrades suffered the predictable fate for conspiracy and witchcraft. While Margery was consigned to the flames for ‘witchcraft’, a specious crime for which thousands of women were murdered over the centuries, Bolingbroke met his death at Tyburn, like so many men before him. Far more rare are references to the death of women at Tyburn, as the following intriguing entry in the Chronicle of the Grey Friars reveals:

    
      
        
          1523. And this yere in Feuerelle [February] the xxth [20th] day was the lady Alys Hungrford was lede from the Tower vn-to Holborne, and there put in-to a carte at the church-yerde with one of hare seruanttes, and so carred vn-to Tyborne, and there bothe hongyd, and she burryd at the Grayfreeres in the nether end of the myddes of the churche on the northe syde.31

        

      

    

    Upon reading this one immediately wonders who this mysterious lady could have been, and what she could have done to deserve such a fate. Stow provides some clues in A Survey of London, in which the great historian refers to a monument in Greyfriars Church commemorating one ‘Alice Lat Hungerford, hanged at Tiborne for murdering her husband’. The Victorian antiquarian John Hardy became so fascinated with this case that he decided to investigate the fate of ‘Lady Alice’ more closely. Hardy concluded that whatever the lady’s motive for murdering her husband, it seemed unlikely to have been greed. An inventory of her assets, which were forfeit to the Crown, included an extraordinary collection of valuable property including plate, jewels and sumptuous hangings.

    Hardy published his findings in The Antiquary in December 1888. He revealed that the lady’s name was not Alice at all, but Agnes, and she had married Sir Edward Hungerford in 1518. Sir Edward’s family seat was Farleigh Castle, near Bath, and he owned a magnificent house in London, while the name lives on in Hungerford Stairs, by the Thames, and Hungerford Bridge. In December 1521, Sir Edward made a will in favour of his wife. When he died six weeks later on 24 January 1522, he freely bequeathed the residue of his estate to Agnes, including all goods, jewels, plate, harnesses ‘and all other moveables [furniture] whatsoever they be’.32 One wonders why Agnes would want to kill such a generous husband, a man considerate enough to leave her such wealth, when she already enjoyed a lavish lifestyle as his wife while he was alive?

    The answer is simple. The husband who died, and who Agnes was accused of murdering, was not Sir Edward Hungerford. It emerged that Agnes had been married before, to a John Cotell of Somerset. Digging through the court records, John Hardy discovered that on 25 August 1522, two yeomen appeared in court in the county of Somerset charged with murdering Cotell three years previously on the orders of Agnes Hungerford. These two men, William Matthew and William Ignes, both from Wiltshire, were indicted for attacking Cotell at Farleigh Castle. The pair set upon Cotell and ‘then and there feloniously did throttle, suffocate, and strangle’ him with his own scarf. In order to dispose of Cotell’s body, they placed it in the kitchen furnace, where it was consumed by fire.33

    This case raises many questions. Agnes obviously had a considerable position of power at the castle. Burning one’s first husband’s body in the kitchen fire was guaranteed to set tongues wagging among the staff. How had John Cotell come to be at the castle? Had he heard that Agnes had married again, and come to Farleigh Castle demanding an explanation, or threatening to blackmail her for bigamy? Or had young Agnes, employed upon the estate, caught the eye of rich old Sir Edward, who had arranged to have Cotell murdered so that he could marry Agnes? Was Sir Edward ruthlessly securing the hand of an attractive but innocent young woman, or was she herself complicit in her first husband’s murder? The fact remains that for three years nothing was said about the death of Agnes’ first husband, though there must have been gossip and speculation. Perhaps the powerful Sir Edward protected her while he was still alive. It was just seven months after he died that Agnes went on trial for ‘petty treason’, the murder of her first husband. Agnes was subsequently charged with providing shelter, comfort and aid to her servants, and all three were hanged at Tyburn on 20 February 1523.

    Whilst Tyburn had become infamous as an execution ground for criminals and traitors, another faction to be put to death here were the religious dissenters. The first religious martyrs were the Jews, during the thirteenth century. Jewish immigration to England came with William I, when he brought Jews over after the Conquest on the grounds of financial expediency. Although the Christians were forbidden by canon law to practice usury, the Jews suffered no restrictions. Banned from entering medicine or the law, money lending was the only profession open to them. But as they prospered, the Jews endured terrible hatred from the gentiles. In 1189, a series of riots saw the entire Jewish population of London fleeing for protection to the Tower.34 In 1255, eighteen Jews were accused of the ritual murder of a seven-year-old boy, Hugh of Lincoln. This ‘blood libel’, which was nothing more than anti-Semitic propaganda, saw the eighteen men hanged at the Tower.

    In 1275, Edward I’s Jewish Statute insisted that the Jews abandoned usury and learned a trade. Unable to practise as moneylenders, many Jews turned to a form of forgery known as ‘clipping the coin’. This consisted of filing the edges off legitimate coins and melting them down to produce higher-denomination counterfeit money. The Jews became so proficient at ‘clipping the coin’ that there were fears that the entire financial system would collapse. However, they paid dearly for their skill. As the king controlled the Royal Mint, and therefore all the money in England, ‘clipping the coin’ constituted a form of treason. As a result, in November 1278, the entire Jewish population of England, around 600 people, was rounded up, charged with fraud and taken to the Tower.35 Two hundred and eight Jews of both sexes were hanged, many at Tyburn. Those who survived were banished by King Edward in 1290.

    The next persecuted minority consisted of the Lollards. This group (the word ‘Lollard’ derives from the Dutch, lollen, to ‘mutter’) were precursors of the Protestants. They followed the preaching John Wycliffe (c.1320–84), a priest and teacher who helped translate the Bible into English and criticized the authority of the Pope, who promptly launched a Papal Bull against him. The Lollards were regarded as heretics on the grounds that they disregarded the sacraments and encouraged the laity to preach, and they represented such a threat to the established church that, in 1401, an act was introduced entitled De Haeretico Comburendo or ‘On the Burning of Heretics’. This act permitted sheriffs and Justices of the Peace to burn suspected heretics to death. This punishment gave rise to the popular misconception that the name ‘Tyburn’ derived from the fate of the Lollards, as in the observation that: ‘Tieburne, some will have it so called from Tie and Burne, because the poor Lollards for whom this instrument was first set up, had their necks tied to the beame, and their lower parts burnt in the fire’.36 In fact, many Lollards also perished at Smithfield, and the name ‘Tyburn’ derives from the Saxon ‘Teo-burna’ or ‘Two Brooks’, referring to the two streams that converged at this location.37

    The third category of martyrs to die at Tyburn were the Roman Catholics, executed upon the orders of King Henry VIII following the Reformation of 1534, when Henry severed relations with the Pope of Rome and appointed himself Defender of the Faith and head of the Anglican church in England. Among the unfortunate was one Elizabeth Barton (1506–34), later christened ‘the Holy Maid of Kent’. Elizabeth, a nun, suffered from petite mal, a mild form of epilepsy, and was credited with seeing visions during her trances. In 1534, Elizabeth prophesied that if Henry VIII married Anne Boleyn, the ‘Bullen whore’, he would no longer be king of England and would die shortly afterwards. As a result of this prediction, Elizabeth Barton was arrested for treason, imprisoned in the Tower, and hanged at Tyburn on 20 April.38 Elizabeth’s head was later placed upon a spike on London Bridge, making her the only woman to be granted that grisly distinction.

    As for the king, he survived for another fifteen years, during which he continued to stamp out support for the Roman Catholic cause with a series of high-profile executions at Tyburn. One of the most graphic instances was the execution of three Carthusian priors. On 4 May 1535, Father Robert Lawrence, prior of Beauvale, Father Augustine Webster, prior of Axholem, and Father John Houghton, prior of the Charterhouse in London, were dragged from Newgate to Tyburn. Father Houghton was cut down while still breathing and dragged to one side, where his garments were torn from his body and his genitals sliced off and roasted on a spit in front of him. Despite the fact that he was being disembowelled and his entrails burnt in a brazier, Father Houghton ‘bore himself with more than human endurance, most patiently’, to the astonishment of the crowd. Even as his heart was being torn out, the Father turned to his executioner and enquired, ‘Sweet Jesu, what will you do with my heart?’39 These were his final words. His head was cut off, his body quartered, and his right arm was taken back to the Charterhouse where it was nailed to the door as an horrific warning. The remains of his fellow Carthusians were thrown into cauldrons and parboiled, and later displayed in different parts of London. In all, 105 Catholic martyrs died at Tyburn. Many were subsequently canonized, and they are commemorated at Tyburn Convent. This Benedictine convent, founded in 1901, stands on the spot where so many met their deaths, known and unknown.
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    Executions at Tyburn, c. 1607. Criminals, traitors and martyrs met a grisly end at this infamous execution ground.

    This completes the first visit to Tyburn. Now it is time to travel to another sinister landmark on the historical map of London. To the Tower, that great castle of darkness from which so few escaped with their lives.

  
    

    

    
2

    CASTLE OF DARKNESS

    Torture and Death in the Tower of London

    No history of crime and punishment in London would be complete without a visit to the Tower. This magnificent edifice has reared above the city since 1079, serving as a terrible warning to those who challenge the authority of the crown. Five miles from Tyburn, the Tower dominates the south-east stretch of old London Wall, forming another landmark on the city’s bloody map. For generations, the Tower represented law and order, an important visual reminder in the years before the existence of a standing army and a professional police force. A royal palace, a fortress and a prison, the Tower exuded a powerful mystique that fascinated and repelled.

    This chapter is the story of murder most royal, of the famous and infamous who spent their last days here. The prisoners in the Tower were men and women of the highest rank, who met their fate on Tower Green, or Tower Hill. Then there were those who spoke out against monstrous tyranny, and endured agonies of torture before being dragged to Tyburn and Smithfield. To step inside these high walls on a cold, grey morning, with the mist rising from the river, is to feel the shades of the prison house closing around one and to understand how those two words, ‘the Tower’, could strike fear into the bravest heart.

    As any modern visitor soon realizes, the Tower of London consists not of one tower, but of many, gradually added over the centuries as the Tower expanded into its various roles as palace, royal mint and prison. The oldest tower was ‘the White Tower’, so called because it was painted white in the thirteenth century. The White Tower was erected upon the site of an existing Roman fortification, chosen for its elevated, well-drained position above the tidal River Thames, and protected by the massive defensive wall which the Romans had built to protect Londinium. Beginning work under the guidance of Gundulf, Bishop of Rochester in 1077, the Normans exploited this existing fortification and created additional walls to enclose the site. Within the site, they built the White Tower, an immense, square castle with turrets 36 x 32.5 m (118 x 106 ft) across and, on the south side (where the ground is lowest), 27.5 m (90 ft) tall. The second largest structure of its type known to have been built, the White Tower is still remarkably well preserved and remains the most complete eleventh-century palace in Europe.

    Slammed down upon the London skyline in 1079 like a massive fist, the Tower demonstrated the power and might of the new Norman government, and it served three purposes. As a palace, with state rooms, lodgings, a chapel, kitchens and even a latrine, it was fit for a king. But the Tower was also a fortress, with a moat surrounding it, an entrance well above ground and walls up to 4 m (15 ft) thick, making it virtually impregnable.1 And as the Normans struggled to control England and her unruly cousins in Scotland and Wales, the Tower performed another role: it operated as a prison for men or women of rank. The prisoners fell into three categories: powerful men who had offended the king, prisoners of war, detained awaiting ransom, and potential troublemakers whose continued liberty was undesirable for political reasons.2

    The first prisoner in the Tower to appear upon the records was Bishop Ranulf Flambard (1060–1128), chief tax collector under William Rufus. When William died, his brother Henry I incarcerated Flambard in 1100 on the grounds of extortion, a move calculated to win favour with the barons.3 The conditions in which the bishop was held were not uncongenial; he was allowed his own servants and could use his ill-gotten gains to purchase food and drink, which were brought in to him by collaborators.

    The bishop could also afford to purchase his freedom. A rope was smuggled into the Tower in a butt of wine, and a horse stood ready beneath the wall. On 2 February 1120 the bishop threw a feast for his jailors, ensured that they were hopelessly drunk, then slipped away to another room where he tied up the rope, squeezed his bloated body out through the window, and made his way to freedom, becoming not only the first recorded prisoner at the Tower, but the first man to escape from the fortress too. The bishop evidently led a charmed life; after taking refuge in France, he made his peace with Henry I and returned to England, where he was restored to his bishopric and died peacefully in 1128.

    In 1244, Gruffydd ap Llewlyn, a Welsh rebel imprisoned by Henry III, attempted to emulate the bishop’s death-defying feat. Despite being kept in reasonable conditions, enjoying good food and regular visits from his wife, Llewlyn decided after two and a half years of imprisonment that he would try to escape by a similar method, knotting together his sheets, bedcovers and every hanging he could find to make a rope.

    Unlike the bishop, Llewlyn did not climb out of a window. Instead, he went up on to the roof of the White Tower, fastened one end of his improvized rope to the parapet and began to lower himself over the side. He had scarcely started when the rope gave way and he plummeted ninety feet to his death. According to a contemporary writer, ‘his head and neck were crushed between his shoulders, a most horrid spectacle’.4

    Another famous escapee was Sir John Oldcastle, the first prisoner to be held in the Tower for religious dissent. Sir John, who was the model for Shakespeare’s Falstaff, was revealed to be a Lollard when some of his old books were found in a second-hand shop in Paternoster Row. King Henry V, Sir John’s former boon companion, risked his own reputation to protect his old friend, but as Sir John refused to deny his beliefs, he was inevitably gaoled. He managed to escape from the Tower on 19 October 1413, with the help of his co-religionists, but instead of fleeing abroad, Sir John squandered his opportunity for freedom by mounting an ambitious coup against his former protector, Henry V. The plot hinged on Sir John and his comrades gaining access to the king disguised as a company of entertainers on Twelfth Night. Characteristically brave but reckless, this plan was soon foiled and Sir John was recaptured and hanged at St Giles’s Fields. According to John Foxe, writing in his Book of Martyrs, Sir John made a good end:

    
      
        
          He was brought out of the Tower with his arms bound behind him, having a very cheerful countenance. Then he was laid upon a hurdle, as though he had been a most heinous traitor to the Crown, and so drawn forth into St Giles Field, where they had set up a new pair of gallows.

        

      

    

    After praying to God to forgive his enemies, and exhorting the huge crowd to follow the scriptures, ‘he was hanged up there by the middle in chains of iron, and so consumed alive in the fire, praising the name of God so long as his life lasted’.5

    The Tower had always been a place of terror, but it was towards the end of the fifteenth century that the fortress really developed its bloodstained reputation, as a result of the bitter family feud between the two factions of the Plantagenet family, commonly known as the ‘Wars of the Roses’. The first victim of the power struggle between the two houses of York and Lancaster was Henry VI. When Edward IV seized power from Henry in 1461, Henry and his queen, Margaret, fled into Scotland. But they were recaptured four years later and Henry was confined to the Wakefield Tower. Gentle, ascetic Henry, with his religious fervour and scholarly ways (he was responsible for founding Eton College and King’s College, Cambridge), had never been an effective ruler. Long considered to be insane, his symptoms consistent with a modern diagnosis of schizophrenia, Henry adapted to imprisonment better than many, and there is no suggestion that he was subjected to a particularly Spartan regime. If Henry was seen shuffling unshaven in ragged garments, this was more likely to have been a consequence of his austere lifestyle rather than a form of punishment.

    The deposed Henry VI was permitted to attend Mass every day in the Wakefield Tower, to receive visitors, to study and to read. He appeared to be relieved that he no longer had to deal with the burdens of office. Edward IV, for his part, had no interest to serve by ill-treating the former king. However, in 1470, after a successful coup by the Duke of Warwick, ‘the Kingmaker’, and Edward’s younger brother, the Duke of Clarence (both former supporters of Edward who had switched sides), Henry was briefly restored to the throne after being paraded through the streets from the Tower to St Paul’s before his applauding subjects.

    Edward IV soon regained the upper hand, however, and Henry was sent back to the Tower where, on 21 May 1471, he was found dead in the oratory of the Wakefield Tower, ‘stykked with a dagger’ while he knelt at prayer, according to Polydore Vergil, Henry VII’s official historian.6 Vergil attributed the crime to Edward’s youngest brother, Richard, Duke of Gloucester, the first in a grisly series of charges laid against the future King Richard III as he carved his bloody path towards the throne.

    The next victim was George, Duke of Clarence, brother of Edward IV Although Clarence had supported the coup of 1470 that had briefly restored Henry VI to the throne, Edward had forgiven him, and continued to tolerate Clarence despite the fact that Clarence resented Edward’s power and influence, insulted Edward’s queen, Elizabeth Woodville, and continued to plot against him. Edward’s generosity finally reached its limit in 1477, when he summoned Clarence to Westminster and had him arrested for treason and sent to the Tower. There he was detained for seven months while Edward waited for some sign of remorse from his weak and disloyal brother.

    But Clarence remained defiant, and was condemned to death by the House of Lords in 1478, who ruled that he should be executed privately in the Tower. According to Polydore Vergil, Clarence was drowned in a butt of Malmsey wine, which seems an extraordinary method of execution. One explanation could be that Clarence’s body was removed from the Tower in a barrel of wine after his death; another is that Clarence, a notorious drunkard, had asked to be despatched in this fashion with characteristic bravado.

    William Shakespeare, upholding the Tudor view of history, accused Richard, Duke of Gloucester, later Richard III, of murdering Clarence. But, it has to be said, that although Clarence left the world in an unconventional manner, his execution had been authorized by Parliament and was perfectly legal, if shrouded in secrecy.7 It is a similar veil of secrecy that surrounds the disappearance of the sons of Edward IV, the little princes Edward and Richard, who were sent to the Tower in 1483.

    Edward IV died suddenly on 9 April 1483, and was immediately succeeded by his twelve-year-old son, Edward. However, Richard Duke of Gloucester, Edward IV’s brother, swiftly seized control. Edward’s widow, Elizabeth Woodville, fled into sanctuary at Westminster Abbey, and Richard appointed himself Protector.

    Fearing that her son would not inherit the throne, Elizabeth Woodville plotted with William Hastings, the Lord Chamberlain, to overthrow Richard. But Richard, who by this stage was referring to himself as ‘the Protector’, learned of the conspiracy and summoned Hastings and his confederates Lord Stanley, Bishop Morton and the Archbishop of York to the Tower. Assuming that they had been summoned to a meeting of the Privy Council, the four men appeared promptly, only to be arrested on the orders of the Protector. Stanley, Morton and the Archbishop were immediately imprisoned in the Tower, but Hastings suffered a different fate. As Richard commented tersely that he could not sit down to dinner ‘until he had seen his head’, Hastings was led out on to Tower Green. A priest was sent for so that Hastings could make his final confession, and then, a piece of timber for repair work being conveniently to hand, Hastings laid down his neck and was beheaded, the first person to be executed on Tower Green.8

    Having set a brutal example by executing Hastings, Richard the Protector promptly claimed the throne on the grounds that Edward IV’s marriage to Elizabeth Woodville had been bigamous and that Edward’s sons, who were living in the Tower in its capacity as a Royal Palace, were therefore bastards. While Richard appointed himself King Richard III, twelve-year-old Prince Edward and nine-year-old Prince Richard remained in the Tower, ostensibly for their own protection. From this point, their fate becomes a matter of conjecture. At the end of 1483, an Italian visitor who had been in London during that year noted that after Hastings had been removed, all the deposed young king’s servants were denied access to him. He and his brother retreated into the inner apartments of the Tower and their appearances at the windows became rarer and rarer, day by day, until they ceased to be seen altogether. A doctor from Strasbourg reported that the young king, like a victim prepared for sacrifice, sought remission of his sins by daily confession and penance, because he believed that death was facing him:

    
      
        
          I have seen many men burst forth into tears and lamentation when mention was made of him after his removal from men’s sight; and already there was a suspicion that he had been done away with. Whether, however, he has been done away with, and by what manner of death, so far I have not at all discovered.9

        

      

    

    The ‘inner apartments’ are probably a reference to the White Tower, an area of the Tower to which few had access. Given the fate of Henry VI twelve years earlier, it is understandable that the populace would fear for the young princes. Rumours were circulating in the taverns of London that the princes were dead from July onwards, when an attempt to overthrow Richard, place Elizabeth Woodville upon the throne and rescue the little princes met with failure. By October, the general assumption was that they had been murdered and their remains interred somewhere in the Tower.10 But who knew where the bodies were buried?

    In 1674, some 191 years later, a complex of mediaeval buildings along the front of the White Tower was demolished. Part of this complex consisted of a stair turret giving access to the original entrance. Ten feet below the foundations of this staircase the workmen found a wooden chest containing the skeletons of ‘two striplings’, or young male children. These were assumed to be the remains of the princes, and buried in Westminster Abbey.

    In 1933 the bones were examined by forensic experts, who concluded that the remains were those of the princes. Subsequent doubts have been raised but it is unlikely that the bodies of any other children would have been concealed in such a fashion at about the same time that the boys disappeared.

    If the princes in the Tower were murdered, then by whom, and upon whose orders? The evidence is wholly circumstantial. Henry VII claimed to have received a confession from one of Richard III’s trusted aides, Sir James Tyrell, before the latter was executed for treason in 1502. This flimsy claim was seized upon by pro-Tudor propagandists Sir Thomas More and Polydore Vergil, who were intent upon casting Richard III as the villain of the piece.

    Later historians, eager to make the case for Richard III as a much-maligned monarch, attributed the murders to the Duke of Buckingham, a loyal supporter of Richard III who later deserted him; other writers claimed that the princes had been murdered on the orders of Henry Tudor, later Henry VII, as a method of discrediting Richard and removing any opposition to Henry’s claim to the throne.

    We shall never know the fate of the little princes, or who was responsible for their deaths. The Tower will never reveal this particular dark secret. But had the princes survived, they would almost certainly have endured the brief lives and early deaths experienced by their cousins. From 1483 onwards, the Tower’s history becomes stained with tragedy, ‘when the prisons were constantly filled and the scaffold deluged with blood’.11

    This is the period when the ranks of servants at the Tower included jailers, torturers and an executioner, when all the terrible machinery of so-called justice could be made ready at a moment’s notice, and when the steps of Traitors’ Gate were worn down by the feet of those who climbed them. It was here that Henry Tudor, once he had defeated Richard III at the Battle of Bosworth Field in 1485, held court, and filled the Tower’s prisons with his enemies, real and imaginary.12
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